The importance of large animal models in transplantation

Jean-Paul Dehoux, Pierre Gianello

Universite catholique de Louvain, Faculty of Medicine, Experimental Surgery Unit, Avenue Hippocrate, 55, 1200 Brussels, Belgium

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Ethical considerations
- 4. The importance of large animal models for transplantation research
- 5. Animal models
- 6. Factors controlling allograft or xenograft rejection
 - 6.1. Allotransplantation
 - 6.2. Xenotransplantation
- 7. Immunosuppressive Drugs
- 8. Immunosuppressive therapies in large animal models
 - 8.1. Monoclonal antibody or fusion protein therapy
 - 8.2. Depletion strategies
 - 8.3. Mixed chimerism
 - 8.4. Donor antigen infusion
- 9. Large Animals in Xenotransplantation
 - 9.1. Concordant large animal models
 - 9.2. Discordant large animal models
 - 9.3. The prevention of discordant xenograft hyperacute rejection
 - 9.3.1. Transplantation of transgenic pig organs
 - 9.3.2. Alpha-1,3-galactosyltransferase knock-out pigs
 - 9.4. Cell-mediated and chronic rejection
 - 9.5. Accommodation
 - 9.6. Induction of immunologic tolerance
- 10. Non-Immunologic hurdles
 - 10.1. Anatomical and physiological obstacles
 - 10.2. Zoonosis
- 11. Experimental cellular xenotransplantation
- 12. Perspectives
- 13. References

1. ABSTRACT

Animal models have been extensively used in transplantation research. However, animal experimentation is contentious and subject to legal and ethical restrictions. Most experiments are carried out on rodents, but crucial prerequisites for the development of safe pre-clinical protocols in biomedical research are needed through suitable large animal models. In transplantation particularly, large animal models have developed dramatically. This article provides an overview of the large animal models commonly used to evaluate organ transplant experiments and analyzes the specificity of several models in various situations such as induction of allospecific tolerance and xenotransplantation. The key determination that remains be addressed is the most appropriate species and strains to model human immune and physiological systems. Because of their phylogenetic and physiologic similarities to man, non-human primates play an increasingly important role in pre-clinical testing. Nevertheless, a number of studies have shown the pig to be a reliable large animal model for transplantation research, and the availability of genetically defined or modified pigs establishes a stronger position for pigs as a large animal model.

2. INTRODUCTION

Transplantation is today the treatment of choice for several end-stage organ diseases. Experimental research on large animal models has been critical for this phenomenal development in human medicine. Murray and co-workers (1,2) demonstrated in the early 1960s that a treatment with anti-metabolite drugs allowed to significantly prolong the survival of renal homografts in dogs: these experiments were crucial for the endorsement of transplantation as an overwhelming therapeutic tool. The remarkable results obtained in human transplantation, however, have led to a major worldwide shortage of organs and cells. This shortage is the impetus for research into novel methods to directly or indirectly increase the number of available organs and cells through tolerance induction, use of living-related grafts or non-heart beating donors, xenotransplantation, and cellular transplantation. Animal models will again play a major role in these research topics.

Although much knowledge has been accumulated about the immune systems of rodents and humans, the evolutionary gap between them has often hampered the

direct applicability of the knowledge gained. Despite the advantages of using small animal models in transplantation, and the advantages conferred by congenic strains, transgenic, and knock-out murine models notwithstanding, recent data confirm that experiments in rodents are not sufficiently relevant to predict human responsiveness to potential treatment strategies. Extrapolating from rodent studies to human applications is difficult for several reasons:

- The young age of murine models certainly has an important impact on the maturity of the immune system and renders immunomodulation easier.
- The expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) antigens is restricted to antigenpresenting cells (3).
- The general conditions of rodents differ from those of large animals and humans. In fact, rodents have a reverse activity cycle compared with humans, so the chronobiology is different (4).
- The dosage/metabolism conversions between the rodents and NHPs/humans are always approximate (5).
- Different pharmacokinetics parameters might lead to incorrect extrapolation since chronological times are used instead of allometric ratios to determine the lifetime and the body weight of the rodents (6).

In contrast, large animal models, although complex and expensive, can be more relevant to clinical transplantation and to understanding the immunological barriers to transplantation. Large animal experimentation has a long history in the field of transplantation research, where it has been used from an anatomical and a surgical point of view to plan the technical aspects of the surgery, for research into physiological and immunological aspects to overcome the rejection processes, to determine the effectiveness of immunosuppressive agents, and to induce donor-specific tolerance. In this way, great strides have been made in recent years to develop reagents and tools to study immunology of non-human primates (NHPs) and pigs.

The aim of this article is to review the commonly used large animal models (pigs and NHPs) in the field of transplantation research, identify their advantages and limits, and propose guidelines for the use of animal models.

3. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The ethics of large animal experimentation have evolved to a level similar to that stated for humans: large animal experiments should be based on prior *in vitro* and, if possible, small animal experimentation. In each country of the European Union, animal research is currently controlled by national legislation. In Belgium, animal laboratory use is controlled by the Animal Law of 1986 and the European legislation—directive 86/609/EEC—for the protection of animals used for experimental purposes. These regulations aim to improve the controls on the use of laboratory

animals, set minimum standards for housing and care, standardize the training of staff who handle animals and supervise the experiments, and reduce the numbers of animals used for experiments. A research laboratory must hold a personal license authorizing it to perform regulated procedures on protected animals. This license authorizes specified work for a well-defined purpose and must include a detailed protocol for each regulated procedure. The protocol must be approved by the local animal research ethics committee of the institution maintaining the research laboratories, and the research can be carried out only under the supervision of an official animal care and welfare officer and a named veterinary surgeon for a clearly defined period of time.

Animal research in Belgium and in Europe is as such governed by the three "R" rules: <u>reduce</u> (lower) the number of animals used in experimentation, <u>refine</u> (improve) their life conditions, and <u>replace</u> laboratory animals if possible by *in vitro* or other experiments (7).

4. THE IMPORTANCE OF LARGE ANIMAL MODELS FOR TRANSPLANTATION RESEARCH

No known animal model can provide data that are completely comparable with humans, but most animal data provide a reasonable prediction of efficiency and safety. Animal models have played a critical role in establishing basic paradigms of immunology and physiology because they provide an *in vivo* milieu that cannot be reproduced *in vitro*. Insights gleaned into the mechanism of immune and physiological functions in rodents form the basis of research; however, an increasing knowledge of the complexity of the human immune system reveals important hurdles that do not appear in small animal models. Although numerous strategies have been successfully applied to small rodent models, extending most of these to large animals has been difficult.

In fact, in vitro studies cannot mimic the most basic in vivo immune responses because so many local and systemic cellular and humoral actors to auto, alloor xenoantigens are involved. Animal models are thus an obvious step needed to identify the most relevant pathways involved in immune mechanisms that only can be hypothesized in vitro. These models nevertheless result from a stepwise progression that includes in vitro experiments in well-controlled systems, followed by the confirmation in vivo, in murine models. The need to pursue research in large animal models depends on the analysis of the data previously obtained. What exactly does the survival of a transplanted organ for 100 days in a young mouse mean, when it probably has a completely immature or naive immune system? Is it indefinite survival? Is it specific and indefinite tolerance? Thus, large animal models must serve as a confirmation step only when the data converge reasonably to suggest a possible application in human medicine. In addition, these data must have been reproduced in several conditions and laboratories before extensive additional experiments are considered.

Table 1. Success of tolerance induction protocols in small versus large animal models and human

Method	Mouse	Primate/Human	
Enhancement	+	-	
Donor-Specific Transfusion	+	-	
Peptides	+	-	
Anti-MHC mAbs	+	-	
Cyclosporin	+	-	
Anti-Lymphocyte Serum	+	-	
Anti-CD4 mAb	+	-	
Anti-CD25 mAb	+	-	
Total Lymphoid Irradiation	+	+/-	
Anti-CD3 toxin	+	+/-	
Co-stimulatory blockade	+	+/-	
Chimerism	+	+	

^{+:} Tolerance induction success, -: Tolerance induction failure

5. ANIMAL MODELS

The first immune characteristic of small animal models is certainly the young age at the time of experimentation, which correlates with an immature immune system and a very active thymus. These young animals are usually inbred and very much protected from outside pathogens and immune challenges (viruses, vaccines, germs, etc.). This "artificial" environment is clearly different from an adult immune system, which has a large repertoire of T-cell memory. Also, the expression of class II antigens, which is in fact restricted to dendritic cells, could play a major role in small animal transplantation models: for instance, the lack of expression of class II antigens on vascular endothelium is related to the relative ease for inducing tolerance to primarily vascularized allografts in rodents, even across full MHC barriers (see Table 1) compared to NHPs or humans (8).

In contrast, large animal models are crucial, especially in transplantation immunobiological research, since class II expression of MHC antigens is constitutive on the endothelium as it is in humans. The importance of class II antigens has been extensively demonstrated in transplantation pig models and in NHPs that have undergone MHC antigen typing (9,10).

Among large animals dedicated to this research field, three models—dogs, pigs, and NHPs—have been and are still used frequently in transplantation research because their physiology and general anatomical and immunological properties approximate those of humans.

Large animal models were first used to develop the technical and surgical aspects of allotransplantation. In 1961, a surgical technique of heart allograft in dogs, which led to Barnard's first human cardiac transplant in South Africa in 1967, was developed (11,12,13,14); similarly, liver allotransplantation was developed in pig and dog models to eventually allow the first human liver transplant (15,16,17,18,19). Calne and co-workers clearly initiated the first step of allotransplantation in humans by showing prolonged survival of renal allografts in beagles (1). Today, large animal models still allow technical development such as spleen allotransplantation to evaluate tolerance induction (20).

Dogs were abundantly used in transplantation research. Their use in renal, heart (11,12,13,14), liver (18,19), lung (21), intestinal (22), bone (23), bone marrow (24), pancreas (25) and pancreatic islet transplantation (26) has been important for facilitating surgical training. In recent decades, the dog model has mainly been used in bone marrow transplantation, since the dog MHC antigen has been well characterized in strains such as beagles (dog leukocyte antigen [DLA]) (27). But over time, dogs have been less used in response to societal pressure. In addition, reagents for dog immunological studies are very limited and do not allow the study of immunological mechanisms. Most ethics committees mandate the use of breeding colonies for dogs. This renders their use more difficult and much more expensive. Dogs are still used to assess drug pharmacokinetics in transplantation.

The pig model is thus slowly replacing the dog model in many experimental protocols because this animal is accepted for human consumption. Thus, there is little public resentment of public research and its use is less expensive. Regarding the European legislation and in contrast to classical laboratory animals and domestic animals, outbred pigs for laboratory research may come from farms, and colony breeding is not mandatory. The pig has distinct advantages:

- It breeds very easily.
- Its anatomy, physiology, and immunology are well known and quite comparable to those of humans.
- It is reared and adapted easily to experimental conditions and has few disease problems.
- The ease of pig genetic engineering is a major advantage since the recent advances in biotechnology allow their transgenic breeding and cloning (28,29).

The pig is thus very important as an animal model and, as discussed later, is also a putative important source of cells and organs for humans. The use of pigs as a model has been paralleled by marked improvements in pig immunological markers such as monoclonal antibodies and pig cytokine detection (30).

The use of outbred pigs for transplantation immunology research is common, but the lack of MHC antigen control does not allow precise studies and consequently well-defined result analysis. For this reason mainly, Sachs D.H. developed his own inbred miniature pig model that allows researchers to control all the MHC combinations in several transplant models such as renal, cardiac, thymic, and bone marrow. In fact, inbred pigs with well-identified swine leukocyte antigen (SLA) (31) have been used, particularly in allotransplant research (10). This miniature pig model mimics all human MHC combinations (10) and has a slow growing curve, but has one major disadvantage related to breeding difficulties: small litters caused by significant consanguinity. Certain minipig breeds (Gottingen minipigs, Yucatan pigs) are also used,

particularly for biomedical research because of their reasonable size (adult weight = 30 kg).

Pigs need to be used at a reasonable weight to perform transplantation surgery in laboratories with sterile conditions, so the age of the animals is mostly approximate to very young adults rather than to adults. As in rodents, the immune systems of young pigs are still immature, and the memory phenotype is still developing and the peripheral T cell repertoire is predominantly naive. In addition, these young animals have still a very active thymus at 3 to 6 months of age, which must be taken into consideration for transplantation research. The data with experiments in adult pigs should therefore still be confirmed when results are found in young pigs. For this reason, the use of miniature pigs from inbred colonies is a considerable advantage since adult pigs can still be used at 150 kg, whereas outbred pigs of similar age have often a weight of 250 to 300 kg, which precludes their use in the laboratory.

NHPs have several important properties that allow them to serve as a bridge between the basic insights obtained in other animal models and their application to humans (32). According to the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of wild fauna and flora (www.cites.org/eng/disc/text.shtml), experimental research with *Hominidae* (the great apes) is prohibited except for research in virology (AIDS and hepatitis). The two *Cercopithecidae* families (baboons and macaques (rhesus and cynomolgus) from the Old World provide most of the monkeys used for biomedical research, especially in hematology, immunology, and virology (33).

The primate immune system has important similarities to humans:

- A high level of homology has been reported between humans and baboons for MHC class I molecules (90%) (34).
- Nucleotide and protein sequences of several cytokines are almost homologous in humans and macaques (93% to 99%) (35).
- The similarities between the sequences of macaque and human antibodies are equivalent to those between human antibodies that originate from different individuals (36).
- The ABO system, hemoglobin, coagulation and fibrinolysis physiology are comparable between humans and baboons (37,38).

Although the immune system of NHPs has important homology to the human immune system, there are some notable exceptions such as antibodies for *Macacus* CD3, which do not cross-react with human CD3 molecules and vice versa. In contrast, many CDs are still unknown in *Macacus* in comparison to human molecules and the determination of immunoglobulin subtypes is still imprecise in baboons (39).

The use of NHPs however, faces considerable hurdles, including social pressures, pathogen-free animals (viruses), major expense, complexity of care, and low rate of fecundity, but they represent crucial models for transplantation research, especially in the field of tolerance induction. Their size could present a problem because of practical surgical aspects, but allows easier drug dosing. Adult baboons weigh 20 to 25 kg, which allows repetitive blood sampling and represents a good model compared with pig organs in a xenotransplantation context. But because there are no breeding colonies, the availability of this species is limited. The most used NHP models in alloand xenotransplantation are today the cynomolgus and rhesus macaques, as colonies live in various countries and delivery is possible by following the rules in force.

The importance of using NHPs for biomedical research has been emphasized by the European Union. In the absence of *in vitro* models that can take into account the complexity of humans, the use of NHPs remains the gold standard before clinical trials. As will be described later, the NHP model is the only real model to allow comprehensive studies in xenotransplantation.

6. FACTORS CONTROLLING ALLOGRAFT OR XENOGRAFT REJECTION

6.1. Allotransplantation

The rejection of human allografts may be mimicked by large animal models, and immune responses are mostly dependent on similar immune T-cells that respond to the major histocompatibility antigens. However, minor antigens, blood group and recipient status are also involved:

- MHC antigens: these are of overwhelming importance in determining the outcome allotransplantation in large animal models and in humans. The matching of class II antigens has been particularly emphasized in human and pig models (10). In hyperacute and accelerated allograft rejection, sensitized recipients may reject their allografts within minutes or hours, through pre-existing anti-MHC antibodies against the donor. Models for this type of rejection include pig models in which the recipient is previously sensitized by skin grafts from the future donor. This hyperimmunized pig model is of overwhelming importance to study the control of anti-MHC antibodies elicited in humans caused by previous grafts, blood transfusions or pregnancies (40).
- Non-MHC linked immune response and minor antigens may play a part in allograft rejection in several animal models.
- Blood group antigens may also produce hyperacute rejection (HAR) and need to be controlled in all large animal models. Although blood group is easily controlled in inbred pig models, outbred herds show ABO incompatibilities and 16 porcine blood groups are recognized (41). These ABO antigens must also be matched to avoid unexpected conclusions; e.g., humoral rejection, on data generated by such models. The same has to be done in NHP models, at least in allotransplantation.

6.2. Xenotransplantation

In xenografts, less is known about cellular rejection in discordant xenogeneic grafts, but enough data seem to evidence the similarity of the humoral immune

response to xenoantigens to consider the pig-to-primate model as the only model that is appropriate for predicting data in humans.

Xenotransplantation is divided into two types, concordant and discordant, according to the discrepancy in species. Concordant xenotransplantation is a transplantation across species in which there are no serum preformed antibodies; e.g., chimpanzee-to-human or chimpanzee-tobaboon. Discordant xenotransplantation is a xenograft across more distant species in which the recipient possesses circulating preformed antibodies against the donor antigens, e.g. pig to primate or pig to human. Humans, apes and oldworld monkeys (baboon, Macacus) have antibodies against Gal-α(1,3)-Galactosyl determinants, which are widely expressed on pig vascular endothelial cells. These xenoantibodies, which are comparable to ABO isoagglutinins in humans, probably result from sensitization to enterobacteria that rapidly colonize the small bowel after birth (42). These pre-existing (or xenoreactive) natural antibodies (XNAs), mainly of IgM isotypes, bind to α-Gal epitopes, activate the classical complement cascade, attract platelets, induce thrombus formation and activate the coagulation pathways that lead to rapid interruption of the graft function within seconds or minutes (43). This phenomenon is called hyperacute rejection. After overcoming this rejection process by either eliminating the XNA reaction or by blocking the complement activation, the organ graft can undergo acute vascular rejection that is characterized by antibodies elicited against Gal residues. infiltration of monocytes and natural killer (NK) cells, interstitial hemorrhage and intravascular coagulation. Even if these two types of vascular rejection are controlled, the xenoorgan can still be rejected by cellular mediated rejection in which NK cells and T-lymphocytes are involved (44,45,46). So far, chronic rejection in xenotransplantation has not been really studied in large animal models because no model survived enough long to evaluate this type of immune response.

The problems with vascularized organs need more research in large animal models, but xenogeneic cell transplantation might be less invasive and cause less severe immune reaction, as will be discussed later.

7. IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE DRUGS

Humans and large animal models show generally similar physiological responses to most drugs tested if their delivery is adequately controlled. The main differences between large animals and humans are, however, the consequence of drug metabolism or absorption and lead to a drug response that is difficult to predict. In general, the only way to use drugs in large animals is to refer to whole blood or plasma levels and not to the dose given. For instance, to reach a therapeutic level in pigs or rodents, calcineurin inhibitors must be used at significantly higher doses than in humans (47,48), but this higher dosage does not preclude lower level use in humans if the circulating levels are comparable. In pigs, an increased volume of distribution and clearance, as well as a diminished systemic availability, explain lower plasma concentrations of cyclosporin A and prednisolone compared to humans. Thus, to obtain the same target concentrations of CyA

and prednisolone in both species, pigs require about 2 to 4 times higher I.V. or oral doses of CyA and 10 to 30 times higher I.V. or oral doses of steroids (49).

As a consequence, all the experiments done in pigs with a high dosage of calcineurin inhibitors should not be discarded as nonapplicable to humans, but should be evaluated carefully. In the early era of cyclosporin A, the dosages used in humans were much too high. Unfortunately, some renal allografts were lost because of the high dosages and consequent nephrotoxicity. Nevertheless, each situation must be clearly analyzed because stable tolerance has been extensively demonstrated in miniature swine with a regimen of 12 days of CyA at 10mg/kg/day. These results could be categorized as inapplicable to humans because the dosage is too high, but adaptation to the pharmacology in pigs would allow researchers to compare the effect with a two- to fourfold reduction in other mammalian species such as humans. The truth is that very few physicians would consider using only one simple drug to induce tolerance in humans, but several clinical trials recently demonstrated very good results in liver transplantation with a regimen that included only tacrolimus (50). In addition, true tolerance has been induced in inbred swine for completely mismatched renal allografts with clinically applicable low doses of tacrolimus (0.1 mg/kg/day: 7 to 20 ng/ml level in the serum) as well as liver tolerance with 0.1mg/kg/d for 12 days in semi-identical pigs (51,52).

In total, cyclosporin A and tacrolimus have been evaluated in dogs, pigs and NHPs with reproducible prolongation of graft survival, or even tolerance. Azathioprine and mycophenolate mofetil have been extensively tested in dogs, whereas sirolimus was not well tolerated by dogs or NHPs. In fact, the poor absorption of sirolimus by NHPs has led to the use of increasing quantities of the drug and consequent bowel lesions. Finally, sirolimus has mainly been evaluated in monkeys at low doses and in the context of multiple drug therapies (53,54).

8. IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE THERAPIES IN LARGE ANIMAL MODELS

8.1. Monoclonal antibody or fusion protein therapy

The main problem with monoclonal antibody therapy in large animals is obviously the specificity. Therefore, many monoclonal antibodies have been tested in NHPs but very few in other large animal models because there is little or no cross-reaction (55,56). New monoclonal antibodies have emerged that may be viable candidates for in innovative low-dose drug-sparing use immunosuppressive combinations. With the high degree of human specificity, many mAbs used in animal models have been shown to be relevant in clinical human transplantation and identified to target immune activation, except CD3 whose human-CD3-specific agents generally do not crossreact with rhesus macaques (57).

Blocking the two main co-stimulatory targets (B7-CD28 and CD40-CD154) has been the main objective and blocking these two receptors synergistically induced tolerance in mice (58,59). In NHPs, monoclonal antibodies

specific for CD80 and CD86 have significantly prolonged the time of renal allograft survival when used simultaneously but have not resulted in tolerance. The injection of either anti-CD80 or anti-CD86 only moderately prolonged renal allograft survival (54).

Injection of CTLA-4-Ig, the alternate soluble protein that binds CD80/86, provided limited efficacy in single use in *Macacus* (60). A new mutant version of CTLA4-Ig (with a better affinity for CD86) and a combination of rapamycin and anti-IL-2-receptor antibody, significantly improved graft acceptance in rhesus monkeys (61). These results seem to be confirmed in recent human studies (62).

Monoclonal antibodies directed to CD40 or CD154 (CD-40L) have been used in *Macacus mulata* and *M. fascicularis*. These mAbs allowed to demonstrate very prolonged allograft acceptance of kidneys, hearts and islets (63,64,65). However, the use of one of this anti-CD154 mAb—hu5C8—in human renal transplantation elicited thrombotic side effects that were also observed lately in NHPs (66), and thus precluded continued clinical trials. Anti-CD40 mAbs were similarly tested in the same species and prolonged the survival of islet and kidney allografts; however, long-term acceptance and true tolerance were not observed (67,68,69).

Several researchers have tried to combine either anti-CD80/86 antibodies or CTLA-4-Ig with anti-CD154 in a search for synergistic effects, as observed in mice. A monoclonal antibody specific for CD154 resulted in markedly prolonged survival of kidney, islet, cardiac, and skin allografts, but, again, most animals eventually developed rejection after prolonged periods of rejection-free survival off therapy (63,64,65,70,71). Two renal-transplanted cynomolgus monkeys that were treated with anti-CD86, anti-CD40 mAbs and a short dose of cyclosporine, showed a very long survival (43 months) of the graft before chronic rejection. The combination of these targets gave better results than either treatment separately by prolonging graft survival (72).

Anti-IL2 receptor antibodies have been tested in rhesus monkeys before clinical use: Daclizumab (humanized mAb) and basiliximab (human/mouse chimeric mAb) have been thus successfully introduced into clinical use in association with calcineurin inhibitors, corticosteroids and mycophenolate mofetil (73,74).

The anti-CD20 mAb (rituximab, rituxan, mabthera) is active on all cells in B-cell lines except proand plasma cells from cynomolgus monkeys. These mAbs have been used to study new agents aimed at B-cell depletion in several human diseases (75).

8.2. Depletion strategies

Other therapeutic approaches involving monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies have been extensively evaluated in large animal models (76,77).

Several anti-thymocyte globulins (ATGs) were used in dogs, NHPs, and pigs, but none was tolerogenic, although long-term survival was occasionally observed (78). Rabbit anti-human thymocyte globulin has been especially studied in NHPs, but the dose needed to achieve complete depletion in NHPs is larger than that used in humans and the depletion was lower than in humans. This was probably the consequence of a lack of specificity. RATG was then used as an add-on treatment to total lymphoid irradiation or Cyclosporin A to increase T-cell depletion (79).

To achieve T-cell depletion in NHPs, however, the most impressive results have been obtained in rhesus monkeys with a monoclonal antibody directed against the CD3 molecule and bound to a modified diphtheria toxin (80). This treatment achieved total T-cell depletion, which allowed a significant prolongation of renal graft survival in rhesus macaques with induction of functional tolerance in 30% of the animals. This therapy provoked dramatic T-cell depletion within hours of the first injection and the repopulation of T cells could take up to 6 months. Although initially nonspecific, this treatment could induce acceptance of specific donor skin grafts and suppression of MLR and CTL production (81). Associated with immunosuppressive drug therapy such as deoxyspergualin, steroids and aspirin, this antibody showed the most impressive data in monkeys by producing survival longer than 2 years with some longer than 5 years (82). This therapy also has been successfully used in an islet allograft model with insulin independence over 1 year (83). The probable toxicity of the diphtheria toxin, however, has so far precluded any human clinical trials. The main effect of this drug is certainly to cause strong peripheral T-cell depletion, but in addition, T-cells from the lymphoid compartment were also rapidly killed. Such an effect has never been achieved with another antibody therapy and only TLI or TBI could provide such lymphoid depletion.

Anti-CD52 rat IgM mAb (also known as campath-1 [alemtuzumab]) similarly causes profound T-lymphocyte depletion associated with consumption of complement in cynomolgus monkeys and has been tested in human trials in which "prope" tolerance has been induced (84). In this case, however, the results in animal models were mild, whereas they seem very attractive in human trials. This is an example in which the lack of benefit in animal model could have led to the failure to develop this useful antibody.

Anti-primate CD2, LO-CD2b produces strong depletion of all peripheral CD2+ cells, including NK CD2+ cells, and represents an important immunological tool that can be used in preclinical models in baboons or cynomolgus monkeys. (85,86). In fact, the corresponding rat anti-human CD2 (LO-CD2a/BTI322) has also been successfully used in liver transplant patients (87), but did not significantly decrease the incidence of acute rejection episodes. The humanized form LO-CD2a (MEDI-507) has been tested in psoriasis and now in some lymphomas under the name of siplizumab.

Table 2. Comparison of rejection process in xenogeneic animal models

	Small models		Large models	
Animal model	Guinea pig to rat	Rat to GalT-KO mouse	Baboon to monkey	Pig to monkey
Hyperacute Rejection	HAR	HAR	NO HAR	HAR
(HAR)	Alternative pathway/ controversial role of	T-cell dependent rejection		Classical pathway
	xenoantibodies			
Animal model	Hamster-to-rat	Mouse-to-rat		
Acute Vascular Rejection	AVR	AVR	AVR	AVR
(AVR)	T-cell independent, B-cell role unclear	MHC independent process	Humoral rejection	Vigorous humoral response
Animal model	Hamster-to-rat		Pig-to-NHP	
Accommodation	YES		NO	

Total lymphoid irradiation (TLI) targets the transient elimination of recipient T-cells that create a window during which a tolerance protocol might be used for allografts. TLI is as such used in addition to other immunosuppressive regimens to induce mixed chimerism and thereby central tolerance in monkeys (88,89). A comparable protocol that includes thymus-specific irradiation, bone marrow transplantation, ATG or MEDI-507 and cyclophosphamide was thus designed in humans to induce central tolerance in patients suffering from multiple myeloma. These are the first intentional and successful cases of clinical tolerance, which was clearly tested and evaluated similarly in primates by the same team (90).

8.3. Mixed chimerism

Following the notable success of mixed-chimerism approaches to induce tolerance in murine models with permanent acceptance of skin grafts across full MHC barriers, similar strategies have been applied successfully in NHP models. Donor bone marrow cell transplantation was infused after host T-cell depletion with TLI, ATG and specific high irradiation of the thymus in monkeys: when lympho-hematopoietic chimerism in the peripheral blood reached higher than 1% for at least 1 month, donor-specific tolerance to renal allograft was achieved (88,89,91,92).

8.4. Donor antigen infusion

Signal intensification by additional donor antigen infusion such as donor whole blood, lymphocyte or bone marrow infusion in combination with T-cell depletion and either co-stimulation or signaling blockade (anti-CD154 mainly) has led to successful tolerance induction in rodents, in allotransplantation and even in rat-to-mice transplantation (93). In NHPs, no prolongation of kidney allograft survival by combining donor-specific transfusion (DST) with anti-CD154 treatment was observed (69).

9. LARGE ANIMAL MODELS IN XENOTRANSPLANTATION

Xenotransplantation is a worthy example of the difficulty of choosing an appropriate animal model. Depending on the discrepancy between species involved, concordant and discordant models have been described. Several experimental models have been extensively developed in small and large animal models to mimic these situations.

The four rodent species commonly used in xenotransplantation research are the rat, mouse, hamster and guinea pig. The classical discordant rodent model used to study HAR has been the guinea pig-to-rat heterotopic heart

transplant model. But the role of xenoantibodies in this model was controversial and Pruitt *et al* have suggested that complement activation via alternative pathways plays a major role in rendering this model questionable (94). In addition, xenograft survival has not been prolonged over 1 or 2 weeks in this model (95). This model has therefore been abandoned.

The rat-to-mouse or hamster-to-rat models have been extensively used to study the xenogeneic immune reaction, but these models are closer to concordant models, although a few preformed antibodies might be evidenced. The hamster-to-rat model is, however, interesting to study since the process of rejection is mainly T-independent and the activity of the B cell compartment and the NK activity have been studied successfully in this model (96). In addition, accommodation has been described in the hamster-to-rat model, and has enabled several important protective genes to be discovered that could play a major role in accommodation induction (97).

Because the pig has been identified as the likely donor for human cells and organs, and the Galactosyl residue has been identified as the main target of human and primate preformed antibodies, Galknockout mice have been produced to mimic that situation. This model is interesting for studying the anti-Gal response, but in these animals HAR is T-cell dependent and alpha-Gal expression in mouse tissue is 200 to 300 times lower than that in pigs, which demonstrates the limits of this small animal model (see Table 2) (98).

9.1. Concordant large animal models

Historical trials of animal organs being transplanted into patients have been reported, but cases with significant clinical results are rare. Until the mid 1960s. primate organs were transplanted to humans. In 1964, the most significant clinical success in xenotransplantation was obtained by Reemtsma, who transplanted kidneys from chimpanzees into humans. The longest survival was 9 months, which represented an incredible result at that time with the very limited immunosuppressive drugs available. No sign of rejection was observed at autopsy, which suggested that the patient died from a water-electrolyte imbalance. Six additional patients were given baboon kidneys and the concordant xenografts functioned properly for up to 60 days, but the doses of azathioprine and prednisone required were high, and the grafts were eventually rejected (99). In 1985 Bailey successfully transplanted a baboon's heart into baby Fae, who was born with a congenital heart anomaly. She survived for 20 days, and the loss of the xenograft was probably related to ABO blood type incompatibility (100).

Primates from the Hominidae Cercopithecidae families are immunologically concordant with humans. Based on the patient survival rates, primates, especially chimpanzees, appear to be the most suitable xenograft donors. However, these primates are today threatened with extinction and are difficult to breed. The very narrow proximity in the phylogenetic tree creates important ethical issues against the use of these animals in experimental protocols. Moreover, chimpanzees could be a source of dangerous pathogens, including Ebola and human immunodeficiency virus.

Other large animal concordant models include baboon-to-monkey (Papio anubis and Macacus fascicularis) and wolf/fox/dingo-to-dog models. The combination baboon-to-macaque or vice-versa was used to investigate immunosuppressive protocols for optimal clinical xenotransplantation. Untreated recipients survived 6 days, whereas monkeys with cardiac or renal xenografts under immunosuppressive drugs survived 149 to 380 days (43). With concerns about zoonosis, viral recombination, and other ethical issues, NHPs are not currently considered feasible and safe donors for humans.

9.2. Discordant large animal models

The pig has been identified as the animal most likely to provide donor organs on a large scale for transplantation into humans. Pigs do not suffer social or ethical pressure, germ-free animals can be reared, their physiopathology is well known and documented, and last but not least, pigs grow rapidly and their genetics are well known. The possibilities of producing transgenic pigs and most usefully and of knocking out genes and cloning pigs are major arguments today to justify their use as putative cell and organ donors for humans.

The immediate consequence of choosing a discordant model for xenotransplantation also has a direct impact on large animal models. In fact, the main residue, which is recognized by preformed antibodies from humans and primates on the pig endothelium, is galactosyl (101); therefore, we must pursue the research in this field with a model that can mimic that situation. The direct relevance of other animal models, such concordant models, or discordant models such as pig-to-dog, monkey-to-pig, or ratite (emu, ostrich)-to-baboon, to clinical XTx in humans is thus questionable. The different antibody-antigen systems involved and the possibility that complement activation occurs via an alternative pathway as well as, or instead of, the classical pathway, render these models without real interest.

The pig-to-primate model (either macaques or baboons) is therefore the only true model for mimicking the hypothetical situation of pig-to-human cellular/organ xenografts. This does not mean that there is no place for mechanistic immunology using small rodent models such as hamster-to-rat or rat-to-Gal-KO mice. In fact, these models need to open the ways to discovering new molecules or genes that may be involved in xenograft rejection.

9.3. The prevention of discordant xenograft hyperacute rejection

As previously described, the first immunological hurdle in the pig-to-primate or human model is HAR. Several major approaches have been explored in pig-to-primate experimental models to overcome HAR: (1) depletion or inhibition (or "neutralization") of antialphaGal antibodies (102), (2) depletion or inhibition of complement (103,104,105), and (3) the use of organs from genetically engineered pigs that are transgenic for human complement-regulatory proteins (106,107). The two first therapeutic approaches allow researchers to prolong xenograft survival up to several weeks instead hours, but transgenic organs have provided the most significant results

9.3.1. Transplantation of transgenic pig organs

Transgenesis appears to be an essential tool to study rejection mechanisms and a potential way to engineer pigs to be used as organ donors for humans (108). So an alternative and important plan has thus been to produce transgenic pigs that overexpress human complement regulatory proteins (CRPs) such as hDAF/CD55 (decay-accelerating factor), hCD59 (membrane attack complex) and hCD56 (membrane cofactor protein). Organs from these animals are protected from HAR because they express CRPs that are compatible with the recipients (106,107).

The combination of using transgenic pig organs and depleting anti-alphaGal antibodies has produced interesting results. Kidneys from these transgenic pigs have functioned for 2 to 12 weeks in monkeys treated with conventional immunosuppression, whereas control pig kidneys were destroyed after a few days (109,110,111).

Improved graft survival using hDAF pig hearts and blocking anti-Gal antibodies by infusing α Gal glycoconjugate and a human anti-human CD154 mAb improved graft survival by an average of 37 days (4 to 139 days) (112). Cardiac xenografts in baboons using hCD46 associated with a heavily immunosuppressive regimen (α Gal polymer, rituximab, tacrolimus, sirolimus, steroids, rabbit ATG, and splenectomy) improved graft survival time to 56 to 113 days (mean 76 days), but viral infection (baboon cytomegalovirus) emerged as a serious problem (113).

Again, the large animal model is of overwhelming importance because, for instance, cynomolgus monkeys seemed more tolerant to hCD55-pig organs than were baboons. Therefore, the use of the two NHPs models seems crucial to confirm data before human studies can be conducted (114).

The data obtained with several lines of transgenic pigs that express one, two or three human regulators of complementary genes certainly enabled progress in the discordant pig-to-primate model. The main breakthrough was the control of HAR and the extension of graft survival to to 3 to 4 months with such transplants. One major problem, however, remains crucial: acute vascular rejection

(AVR), which occurs during the weeks after xenograft and despite HAR being controlled. This vascular rejection depends on preformed and elicited anti-pig antibodies and on innate immune cells such as polymorphonuclear cells, NK cells, macrophages, and later T-cells. In addition, this vascular rejection is correlated with several problems such as acute systemic thrombocytopenia and consumptive coagulopathy in association with localized intravascular thrombosis. These abnormalities could be related to the disparity of hemostasis pathways between discordant species. Some of these coagulation disorders and platelet physiology incompatibilities were inhibited by heparin derivatives, antithrombin III, and proctacyclin inhibitors (115). The only real solution to overcome several of these problems together was obviously to consider knocking out the expression of the galactosyl residue on pig endothelium. This is the third main step that has been taken during recent years in the field.

9.3.2 .Alpha-1, 3-galactosyltransferase knock-out pigs

The first homozygous GalT-KO pigs were developed in 2003 by knocking out the galactosyl transferase genes in early pig cell embryos (29,115,116). The production of these pigs demonstrated that survival times surpassed previous attempts using donor organs from non-GalT-KO pigs (16 to 56 days). Kuwaki *et al.* transplanted GalT-KO heterotopic pig hearts into baboons and the xenografts ceased contracting on days 59, 67, 78, 110 and 179, the latter being the longest survival recorded in any porcine-to-NHP model to date (117).

The survival of pig "thymo"-renal transplants from GalT-KO pigs has been reported in cynomolgus monkeys undergoing a tolerance induction regimen. Survival was prolonged up to day 81 to 83 after transplantation (118).

The use of Gal-KO pigs, however, also evidenced that the next hurdle for discordant xenotransplantation will be non-Gal antibodies as well as the development of thrombotic microangiopathy. The causes of these hurdles probably involve activation of the vascular endothelium by non-Gal antibodies as well as innate immune cells which recognize non-Gal antigens, and coagulation dysregulation caused by molecular incompatibilities between pig and primate (115). As discussed in perspectives, GalT-KO pigs that express human complement-regulatory protein such as CD55, plus anti-coagulant genes such as TFPI and thrombomodulin, will be necessary to overcome these problems and go a step further.

9.4. Cell-mediated and chronic rejection

After HAR and AVR have been controlled, the xenograft undergoes cell-mediated rejection involving NK cells and T lymphocytes. The NK cells exhibit cytotoxicity to vascular endothelial cells, whereas the T lymphocytes respond to xenoantigens presented directly or indirectly and induce a more severe cell-mediated rejection than that observed in allotransplantation (119). The role of T cells in xenograft rejection is not yet well understood, but there are probably important mediators in cell-mediated rejection which will need classical immunosuppressive agents at

higher doses if they are to be controlled. A beneficial situation, however, with pig-to-human xenografts, would be if genetic manipulation of the ideal donor could be pursued and genetic engineering of the T-cell response such as expression of CTLA4-Ig on pig cells could also be carried out.

Until now, chronic rejection in xenotransplantation has been unknown, but if a pig organ is successfully accepted long term, chronic rejection is likely to occur.

9.5. Accommodation

Accommodation is a phenomenon by which vascular endothelial cells show resistance to an antibody-mediated injury. Accommodation was first demonstrated in ABO-incompatible human living-related renal allografts and then used as a model for the experimental discordant xenograft model (102,120,121). The mechanisms of accommodation have been relatively well studied in hamster-to-rat heart xenotransplantation, but never in large animal models. Protective genes such as anti-apoptotic genes A20, bcl-2, bcl- X_L and others including genes that code for hemoxygenase-1, have been extensively studied and identified as being involved in this phenomenon (97). Accommodation will certainly be studied again in pigs that have been genetically manipulated (97).

9.6. Induction of immunologic tolerance

A protocol including whole body and thymic irradiation, splenectomy, a course of antithymocyte globulin, and cyclosporin, together with an allospecific bone marrow infusion, resulted in tolerance to renal allografts in cynomolgus monkeys, with graft survival of longer than 3 years in the absence of any form of therapy after the first month (63). This regimen, however, is not yet adequate for tolerance to pig organs, even when combined with antibody immunoadsorption (pig liver perfusion or immunoaffinity columns of synthetic alpha-Gal). The return of xenoantibodies systematically resulted in the rejection of pig organs in cynomolgus monkey and baboon recipients. When a donor pig thymus was transplanted together with the pig kidney ("thymo-kidney") into a baboon that was pretreated with whole body irradiation and immunosuppressive therapy, xenograft survival was extended up to 3 months but without tolerance (118).

10. NON-IMMUNOLOGIC HURDLES

10.1. Anatomical and physiological obstacles

Regarding compatibilities, data show physiological compatibilities between pigs and primates, e.g. coagulation factor VII. Two baboons were reported to have tolerated a liver xenograft for 4 to 8 days with normal oral intake, normal coagulation tests, and porcine fibrinogen (122,123). In primates with prolonged posttransplant survival, renal function has been preserved before rejection, as shown by essentially normal serum creatinine, chloride, potassium, and calcium levels, providing that a kidney from a phylogenetically distant species can maintain fluid balance and normal biochemical homoeostasis in primates. Nevertheless, despite the

administration of recombinant erythropoietin, NHP recipients suffered from severe anemia (107).

There are also several incompatibilities, e.g., complement cascade, protein C and thrombomodulin. Blood viscosity, enzymes and hormones show some variations between humans and pigs (124). Coagulation disturbances are encountered in discordant models. These abnormalities are related to the disparity of hemostasis pathways between discordant species. Acute systemic thrombocytopenia and consumptive coagulopathy, in addition to localized intravascular thrombosis during AVR, create another barrier. Models using hearts from transgenic mice that express anticoagulant fusion proteins showed graft survival prolongation up to 100 days in Lewis rats, whereas control hearts were rejected within 3 days (125). This novel strategy must be considered in pigs. In vitro studies showed that recombinant porcine fgl2, a prothrombinase, could generate thrombin from human prothrombin. In vivo pig-to-baboon xenografts undergoing AVR were positive for inducible pfgl2 on endothelial cells. These incompatibilities between pigs and humans need further consideration (126).

Besides immune hurdles, anatomical (size, posture) and, especially, physiological differences exist between humans and pigs, but these characteristics will only be available for study when reproducible and long-term survival of a pig organ into a primate has been achieved (110,127).

10.2. Zoonosis

Pigs have pathogens, bacteria, fungi, parasites, and viruses, but they are preferable to NHPs as a source of donor organs because recombination could be less dangerous or could occur less frequently than with primates, which are close phylogenetically. A major concern, however, is the potential for xenogeneic transmission of viruses from pigs to humans via organ, tissue, and cellular transplantations or via ex vivo exposure humans to porcine biologic materials. Immunosuppressive drugs may facilitate the transmission of zoonotic agents. Viruses that cause apparent diseases in pigs are relatively easy to eliminate from donor herds, but those that are asymptomatic in pigs and those that undergo latency are more difficult to eliminate. Among them, porcine endogenous retroviruses (PERV) are of particular concern. Three subtypes of PERV exist in germ line DNA and are human-tropic replication-competent; so they are relevant to clinical xenotransplantation (128). These viruses may form in the recipient posttransplant recombination and lead to a new virus human-competent. All in vitro and in vivo studies to date have shown the absence of PERV transmission in several hundred patients tested, which is encouraging (129). Continuous research with in vivo models is, however, required to draw clinically significant conclusions and to determine whether zoonosis will be a manageable component. Pig strains that express no or fewer retroviral sequences have been found, but PERV-KO pigs could be engineered in the future (130).

11. EXPERIMENTAL CELLULAR XENOTRANSPLANTATION

Over the last decade, experimental and clinical assays have generated exciting data on the role of cellular transplantation (islets, hepatocytes, retinal cells or brain cells) as treatments for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, acute liver failure, retinal degeneration, and Parkinson's disease, respectively. Among the xenogeneic cellular models under investigation, islet xenotransplantation is the most active. In fact, using pigs as islet donors would offer an unlimited number of islets. Recently, two main studies demonstrated that a heavy immunosuppressive regimen that includes, in particular, anti-CD154 mAbs, could control diabetes in STZ-treated or pancreatectomized primates up to 6 months (131,132). These two main studies will certainly provoke a resurgence of interest in xenogeneic islet transplantation, once several additional studies have been done to render the immunosuppressive regimen more applicable to humans. In addition, recent data obtained in our laboratory tend to demonstrate that immuno-isolation by alginate encapsulation of pig islets can correct STZinduced diabetes in monkeys of up to 6 months without any immunosuppression. These results were obtained while there was an antibody response against porcine antigens in the serum, but the encapsulated pig islets were not affected by this humoral reaction (133).

Hepatocyte transplantation is still innovative in allotransplantation (134),xenotransplantation of hepatocytes has already been studied in small animal models; for instance, a significant decrease in serum cholesterol has been shown in Watanabe rabbits after transplantation of healthy porcine hepatocytes (135). Similarly, clinical parameters were significantly improved in cirrhotic rats after transplantation of porcine hepatocytes (136). Immunodeficient mice have been used as xenotransplantation models to develop in vivo models of hepatitis B or C virus infection. These data show that human hepatocytes can repopulate the mouse liver and indicate no fundamental incompatibility between the murine liver microenvironment and human hepatocytes (137). These results demonstrate the feasibility of this approach to support liver failure by xenogeneic cells, but they need to be validated in preclinical large animal models. A recent work showed interesting data in the pigto-primate model with hepatocytes survival for 80 days after the first injection and 253 days after a second injection (138).

In humans, bioartificial liver devices containing porcine hepatocytes have been extensively studied in patients and serve as a bridge to liver allotransplantation in the case of fulminant hepatitis (139). Bioartificial liver support based on porcine hepatocyte system was first developed in a canine model (140).

Clinical cell transplant trials have been performed in patients with Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, demyelinating diseases, retinal disorders, stroke, epilepsy, and even deafness, and normally are designed as cell replacement strategies. Major practical and ethical problems with the use of aborted human tissue in clinical transplantation programs prevent its widespread adoption. This has led to the search for alternative sources of cells, including some from other species, such as the pig. There are 200,000 dopaminergic neuroblasts in the pig, and the optimal age for harvesting these cells appears to be embryonic days 26 to 27. If cells are taken at this age and xenografted into the adult central nervous system, they are rejected through a combination of cellular and humoral immune processes. The immune responses induced against this discordant embryonic porcine tissue have been addressed in mice and rats, and the critical factors for graft rejection have been determined (141). Conventional immunosuppressive drugs used as monotherapy (e.g., cyclosporin A or tacrolimus) do not protect grafts (142). Short courses of treatment with molecules that block T-cell costimulation (CD40L, LFA1 and CTLA4Ig) have resulted in very good graft survival in mice (67), although long-term studies are needed to determine whether this therapy could be used clinically. Transgenic porcine VM tissue, expressing either the human complement inhibitor CD59 or human α -1,2fucosyltransferase in combination with a recipient treatment with anti-C5 antibodies (H transferase), survives up to 12 weeks in Parkinsonian primates (143). However, the level of expression of these human complement-regulatory proteins is generally low in transgenic embryonic pig brains.

12. PERSPECTIVES

Rapid progress in biomedical research has generated a huge number of experimental data from mostly small animal models, but there is little doubt that large animal models have provided an invaluable insight into transplantation research.

Small and large animal models have advantages and disadvantages, but guidelines need to be followed to take into account new ethical rules, obvious social pressures, scientific progress, and appropriate use of animal models.

Considering that transplantation medicine today faces a major organ shortage and that over-immunosuppression is totally unacceptable, the new challenges for transplantation are related to increasing the organ pool and improving the specificity of immunosuppression.

To increase the number of available organs, the whole network of organ harvesting must be continuously improved, which is clearly ongoing. Optimizing the use of living-related donors is also ongoing in all transplant centers, but the main problem will be to protect society against any dysfunction such as sales of organs at this level. To increase the pool of available organs, the use of non-heart beating donors is and will continue to be a major field of improvement. In this area, experimental research needs to focus on this problem and experimental protocols need to be developed in parallel, mainly in large animal models.

To indirectly increase the organ pool and improve the results of transplantation, tolerance induction still represents the "holy grail" to be reached and in this context,

large animal models need to be continuously studied. These models however, will be used only to confirm important and reproducible data found in mice models, especially when new mechanisms of tolerance are evidenced. In this context, the pig model still remains an appropriate one, because new pig reagents exist and the knowledge of the swine immune system is improving. In fact, there is no need to perpetuate more and more experiments that study very minor innovations, and large animal models must be reserved to confirm innovative approaches or new therapies. In this context, the combination of bone marrow transplantation and solid organ transplantation might represent the future of tolerance induction and thus, pig, dog, or primate models will still be used in the field, as SLA and DLA are well defined and we may be able to characterize the MHC in primates. In the field of tolerance, however, most of the progress will likely be made directly in human medicine, as so much has been already studied in animal models, that it is of overwhelming importance to study carefully the situation in clinical transplantation to solve the problems that are specific to human transplantation.

Similarly, a great deal of experimental work remains to be done in allotransplantation to transplant hypersensitized patients, who represent a significant percentage of cases. In this context, specific animal models must be developed and studied. Large animal models especially need to be developed to find new therapies that could be valuable for such patients. The comparability of the problem with xenotransplantation renders this question more up to date. The pig model seems to be appropriate for such studies and there is no need to use NHPs to be closer to the human situation, as pre-sensitization will provide in pigs, as in humans, an anti-MHC antibody response, and pig SLA is well enough defined to compare the results obtained with humans.

Xenotransplantation remains an important field of research for increasing the organ pool. Pigs have established a strong position as a large animal model in this area of research, as they appear to be the only possible organ and cell donors for humans. The availability of genetically modified pigs represents the second major point for developing the pig-to-primate model. GalT-KO pigs represent the first line, which should be improved by additional human genes and complementary regulatory proteins such as CD55 should be added to the Galt-KO background. In addition, pigs should be modified to protect against coagulopathy and transgenic pigs expressing anticoagulant fusion proteins, based on tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI-Tg and hirudin (Hir-Tg)) will also be produced on the GalT-KO/CD55 background.

Finally, significant progress needs to be made with cellular therapy and probably needs to include xenogeneic cellular therapy, which could provide interesting results in the near future. These models also need to be studied in large animal models before they are considered for new strategies in human therapies. In this field, xenotransplantation of pig islets cells could be the first application in humans.

In conclusion, the use of animal models remains crucial to progress in transplantation medicine. The guidelines should reserve a place for research in rodent models to discover new genes and new biological pathways by using all the tools such as transgenic and knock-out animals. Once new therapies, new molecules, or new pathways have been evidenced in rodents, the question of their confirmation in large animal models arises. The choice between pig and NHP models will be adapted to the questions, to knowledge of the model and to the possibility of monitoring the results.

In this context, funding from communities such as the European Community are certainly not easy to obtain and are very competitive, but they are important since they mandate setting up networks that will control the experiments to be done with animals and as such avoid the recurrence of similar experiments in many laboratories. Today, there are two such networks in transplantation, one for tolerance induction in humans (RISET) and one in xenotransplantation (XENOME).

13. REFERENCES

- 1. Calne, R. Y., G. P. Alexandre & J. E. Murray: A study of the effects of drugs in prolonging survival of homologous renal transplants in dogs. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 99, 743-761 (1962)
- 2. Murray, J. E.: The first successful organ transplants in man. *J Am Coll Surg* 200, 5-9 (2005)
- 3. Choo, J. K., J. D. Seebach, V. Nickeleit, A. Shimizu, H. Lei, D. H. Sachs & J. C. Madsen: Species differences in the expression of major histocompatibility complex class II antigens on coronary artery endothelium: implications for cell-mediated xenoreactivity. *Transplantation* 64, 1315-1322 (1997)
- 4. Giraldes, A.: Animal models in the study of human diseases in Animal research and welfare, a partnership. *Proceedings of the 12th ICLAS international joint meeting's general assembly and conference 7th FELASA Symposium, Spain* 85-88 (99 A.D.)
- 5. Passmore, R.: The regulation of body-weight in man. *Proc Nutr Soc* 30, 122-127 (1971)
- 6. Mordenti, J.: Dosage regimen design for pharmaceutical studies conducted in animals. *J Pharm Sci* 75, 852-857 (1986) 7. Flecknell, P.: Replacement, reduction and refinement. *ALTEX* 19, 73-78 (2002)
- 8. Kirk, A. D.: Crossing the bridge: large animal models in translational transplantation research. *Immunol Rev* 196, 176-196 (2003)
- 9. Kirk, A. D.: Transplantation tolerance: a look at the nonhuman primate literature in the light of modern tolerance theories. *Crit Rev Immunol* 19, 349-388 (1999)
- 10. Gianello, P. R., D. H. Sachs: Effect of major histocompatibility complex matching on the development of tolerance to primarily vascularized renal allografts: a study in miniature swine. *Hum Immunol* 50, 1-10 (1996)
- 11. Shumway, N. E., R. R. Lower & R. C. Stofer: Transplantation of the heart. *Adv Surg* 2, 265-284 (1966)
- 12. Manax, W. G., G. W. Lyons, Z. Eyal & R. C. Lillehei: Cervical heart homotransplantation. *Surgery* 58, 835-839 (1965)

- 13. Dureau, G., T. Okura, W. Schilt & A. Kantrowitz: [Orthotopic transplantation of the cadaver heart in dogs]. *Ann Chir Thorac Cardiovasc* 5, 700-706 (1966)
- 14. Barnard, M. S.: Heart transplantation: an experimental review and preliminary research. *S Afr Med J* 41, 1260-1262 (1967)
- 15. Terblanche, J., J. H. Peacock, J. Bowes & K. E. Hobbs: The technique of orthotopic liver homotransplantation in the pig. *J Surg Res* 8, 151-160 (1968)
- 16. Calne, R. Y., D. E. Yoffa, H. J. White & R. R. Maginn: A technique of orthotopic liver translantation in the pig. *Br J Surg* 55, 203-206 (1968)
- 17. Mieny, C. J., A. R. Moore, J. Homatas & B. Eiseman: Homotransplantation of the liver in pigs. *S Afr J Surg* 5, 109-114 (1967)
- 18. Brock, D. R., T. E. Starzl: Histopathologic alterations associated with the transplanted homologous dog liver. *Exp Mol Pathol* 1, 187-203 (1962)
- 19. Kestens, P. J., J. J. Haxhe, G. P. Alexandre, A. Hassoun & L. Lambotte: [Preservation of the liver with a view to transplantation. I. Selective hypothermia of the liver]. *Rev Int Hepatol* 15, 1383-1400 (1965)
- 20. Dor, F. J., Y. L. Tseng, K. Kuwaki, B. Gollackner, M. L. Ramirez, D. D. Prabharasuth, R. A. Cina, C. Knosalla, M. G. Nuhn, S. L. Houser, C. A. Huang, D. S. Ko & D. K. Cooper: Immunological unresponsiveness in chimeric miniature swine following MHC-mismatched spleen transplantation. *Transplantation* 80, 1791-1804 (2005)
- 21. Farivar, A. S., M. Y. Yunusov, P. Chen, R. J. Leone, D. K. Madtes, C. S. Kuhr, M. R. Spector, K. Abrams, B. Hwang, R. A. Nash & M. S. Mulligan: Optimizing a canine survival model of orthotopic lung transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 38, 1638-1640 (2006)
- 22. Galvao, F. H., E. Pompeu, N. Panajotopoulos, V. R. Santos, T. Bacchella & M. C. Machado: Orthotopic small intestine transplantation in dogs with systemic graft drainage. *Arg Gastroenterol* 42, 182-185 (2005)
- 23. Huh, J. Y., B. H. Choi, S. J. Zhu, J. H. Jung, B. Y. Kim & S. H. Lee: The effect of platelet-enriched fibrin glue on bone regeneration in autogenous bone grafts. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 101, 426-431 (2006)
- 24. Niemeyer, G. P., M. K. Boudreaux, S. A. Goodman-Martin, C. M. Monroe, D. A. Wilcox & C. D. Lothrop, Jr.: Correction of a large animal model of type I Glanzmann's thrombasthenia by nonmyeloablative bone marrow transplantation. *Exp Hematol* 31, 1357-1362 (2003)
- 25. David, A. I., C. G. Aquino, L. R. Guidoni, A. Moricz, E. David-Neto, A. M. Pacheco, Jr. & L. A. Szutan: Experimental training model of pancreas transplant. *Transplant Proc* 38, 1941-1943 (2006)
- 26. Stagner, J. I., H. L. Rilo & K. Wyler: Remission of digestive insufficiency by islet transplantation to the pancreas. *Dig Dis Sci* 51, 1777-1779 (2006)
- 27. Kennedy, L. J., A. Barnes, G. M. Happ, R. J. Quinnell, O. Courtenay, S. D. Carter, W. E. Ollier & W. Thomson: Evidence for extensive DLA polymorphism in different dog populations. *Tissue Antigens* 60, 43-52 (2002)
- 28. Niemann, H., D. Rath & C. Wrenzycki: Advances in biotechnology: new tools in future pig production for agriculture and biomedicine. *Reprod Domest Anim* 38, 82-89 (2003)

- 29. Lai, L., D. Kolber-Simonds, K. W. Park, H. T. Cheong, J. L. Greenstein, G. S. Im, M. Samuel, A. Bonk, A. Rieke, B. N. Day, C. N. Murphy, D. B. Carter, R. J. Hawley & R. S. Prather: Production of alpha-1,3-galactosyltransferase knockout pigs by nuclear transfer cloning. *Science* 295, 1089-1092 (2002)
- 30. Rothkotter, H. J., E. Sowa & R. Pabst: The pig as a model of developmental immunology. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 21, 533-536 (2002)
- 31. Sachs, D. H., G. Leight, J. Cone, S. Schwarz, L. Stuart & S. Rosenberg: Transplantation in miniature swine. I. Fixation of the major histocompatibility complex. *Transplantation* 22, 559-567 (1976)
- 32. Kean, L. S., S. Gangappa, T. C. Pearson & C. P. Larsen: Transplant tolerance in non-human primates: progress, current challenges and unmet needs. *Am J Transplant* 6, 884-893 (2006)
- 33. Carlsson, H. E., S. J. Schapiro, I. Farah & J. Hau: Use of primates in research: a global overview. *Am J Primatol* 63, 225-237 (2004)
- 34. Prilliman, K., D. Lawlor, M. Ellexson, N. McElwee, D. Confer, D. K. Cooper, R. C. Kennedy & W. Hildebrand: Characterization of baboon class I major histocompatibility molecules. Implications for baboon-to-human xenotransplantation. *Transplantation* 61, 989-996 (1996)
- 35. Villinger, F., S. S. Brar, A. Mayne, N. Chikkala & A. A. Ansari: Comparative sequence analysis of cytokine genes from human and nonhuman primates. *J Immunol* 155, 3946-3954 (1995)
- 36. Herodin, F., P. Thullier, D. Garin & M. Drouet: Nonhuman primates are relevant models for research in hematology, immunology and virology. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 16, 104-116 (2005)
- 37. Wiener, A. S., W. W. Socha & J. Moor-Jankowski: Homologous of the human A-B-O blood groups in apes and monkeys. *Haematologia (Budap)* 8, 195-216 (1974)
- 38. Mestries, J. C., E. K. Kruithof, M. P. Gascon, F. Herodin, D. Agay & A. Ythier: *In vivo* modulation of coagulation and fibrinolysis by recombinant glycosylated human interleukin-6 in baboons. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 5, 275-281 (1994)
- 39. Dehoux, J. P., P. B. de la, D. Latinne, H. Bazin & P. Gianello: Characterization of baboon anti-porcine IgG antibodies during acute vascular rejection of porcine kidney xenograft. *Xenotransplantation* 9, 338-349 (2002)
- 40. Poirier, N., F. Maillet, M. L. Barussaud, K. Renaudin, J. Ashton-Chess, D. Minault, J. Hervouet, J. P. Soulillou & G. Blancho: Acute humoral rejection of renal transplants in alloimmunized pigs. *J Surg Res* (2007, In press)
- 41. Smith, D. M., M. Newhouse, B. Naziruddin & L. Kresie: Blood groups and transfusions in pigs. *Xenotransplantation* 13, 186-194 (2006)
- 42. Galili, U.: Xenotransplantation and ABO incompatible transplantation: the similarities they share. *Transfus Apher Sci* 35, 45-58 (2006)
- 43. Zhang, Z., E. Bedard, Y. Luo, H. Wang, S. Deng, D. Kelvin & R. Zhong: Animal models in xenotransplantation. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 9, 2051-2068 (2000)

- 44. Cozzi, E., E. Bosio, M. Seveso, M. Vadori & E. Ancona: Xenotransplantation-current status and future perspectives. *Br Med Bull* 75-76, 99-114 (2005)
- 45. Sachs, D. H., M. Sykes, S. C. Robson & D. K. Cooper: Xenotransplantation. *Adv Immunol* 79, 129-223 (2001)
- 46. Lambrigts, D., D. H. Sachs & D. K. Cooper: Discordant organ xenotransplantation in primates: world experience and current status. *Transplantation* 66, 547-561 (1998)
- 47. Rosengard, B. R., C. A. Ojikutu, P. C. Guzzetta, C. V. Smith, T. M. Sundt, III, K. Nakajima, S. M. Boorstein, G. S. Hill, J. M. Fishbein & D. H. Sachs: Induction of specific tolerance to class I-disparate renal allografts in miniature swine with cyclosporine. *Transplantation* 54, 490-497 (1992)
- 48. Gianello, P. R., G. Blancho, J. F. Fishbein, T. Lorf, V. Nickeleit, D. Vitiello & D. H. Sachs: Mechanism of cyclosporin-induced tolerance to primarily vascularized allografts in miniature swine. Effect of administration of exogenous IL-2. *J Immunol* 153, 4788-4797 (1994)
- 49. Frey, B. M., M. Sieber, D. Mettler, H. Ganger & F. J. Frey: Marked interspecies differences between humans and pigs in cyclosporine and prednisolone disposition. *Drug Metab Dispos* 16, 285-289 (1988)
- 50. Raimondo, M. L., A. K. Burroughs: Single-agent immunosuppression after liver transplantation: what is possible? *Drugs* 62, 1587-1597 (2002)
- 51. Utsugi, R., R. N. Barth, H. Kitamura, J. Ambroz, D. H. Sachs & K. Yamada: Tolerance across a two-haplotype, fully MHC-mismatched barrier induced in miniature swine renal allografts treated with a 12-day course of tacrolimus. *Transplant Proc* 33, 101 (2001)
- 52. Oike, F., S. Talpe, M. Otsuka, J. P. Dehoux, J. Lerut, J. B. Otte & P. Gianello: A 12-day course of FK506 allows long-term acceptance of semi-identical liver allograft in inbred miniature swine. *Transplantation* 69, 2304-2314 (2000)
- 53. Ikonen, T. S., J. F. Gummert, M. Hayase, Y. Honda, B. Hausen, U. Christians, G. J. Berry, P. G. Yock & R. E. Morris: Sirolimus (rapamycin) halts and reverses progression of allograft vascular disease in non-human primates. *Transplantation* 70, 969-975 (2000)
- 54. Birsan, T., B. Hausen, J. P. Higgins, R. W. Hubble, J. Klupp, M. Stalder, A. Celniker, S. Friedrich, R. M. O'Hara & R. E. Morris: Treatment with humanized monoclonal antibodies against CD80 and CD86 combined with sirolimus prolongs renal allograft survival in cynomolgus monkeys. *Transplantation* 75, 2106-2113 (2003)
- 55. Montgomery, S. P., H. Xu, D. K. Tadaki, A. Celniker, L. C. Burkly, J. D. Berning, F. Cruzata, E. A. Elster, G. Gray, R. L. Kampen, S. J. Swanson, D. M. Harlan & A. D. Kirk: Combination induction therapy with monoclonal antibodies specific for CD80, CD86, and CD154 in nonhuman primate renal transplantation. *Transplantation* 74, 1365-1369 (2002)
- 56. Haanstra, K. G., J. Ringers, E. A. Sick, S. Ramdien-Murli, E. M. Kuhn, L. Boon & M. Jonker: Prevention of kidney allograft rejection using anti-CD40 and anti-CD86 in primates. *Transplantation* 75, 637-643 (2003)
- 57. Neville, D. M., Jr., J. Scharff, H. Z. Hu, K. Rigaut, J. Shiloach, W. Slingerland & M. Jonker: A new reagent for the induction of T-cell depletion, anti-CD3-CRM9. *J Immunother Emphasis Tumor Immunol* 19, 85-92 (1996)

- 58. Clarkson, M. R., M. H. Sayegh: T-cell costimulatory pathways in allograft rejection and tolerance. *Transplantation* 80, 555-563 (2005)
- 59. Larsen, C. P., E. T. Elwood, D. Z. Alexander, S. C. Ritchie, R. Hendrix, C. Tucker-Burden, H. R. Cho, A. Aruffo, D. Hollenbaugh, P. S. Linsley, K. J. Winn & T. C. Pearson: Long-term acceptance of skin and cardiac allografts after blocking CD40 and CD28 pathways. *Nature* 381, 434-438 (1996)
- 60. Alegre, M. L., F. Fallarino: Mechanisms of CTLA-4-Ig in tolerance induction. *Curr Pharm Des* 12, 149-160 (2006)
- 61. Adams, A. B., N. Shirasugi, M. M. Durham, E. Strobert, D. Anderson, P. Rees, S. Cowan, H. Xu, Y. Blinder, M. Cheung, D. Hollenbaugh, N. S. Kenyon, T. C. Pearson & C. P. Larsen: Calcineurin inhibitor-free CD28 blockade-based protocol protects allogeneic islets in nonhuman primates. *Diabetes* 51, 265-270 (2002)
- 62. Vincenti, F., C. Larsen, A. Durrbach, T. Wekerle, B. Nashan, G. Blancho, P. Lang, J. Grinyo, P. F. Halloran, K. Solez, D. Hagerty, E. Levy, W. Zhou, K. Natarajan & B. Charpentier: Costimulation blockade with belatacept in renal transplantation. *N Engl J Med* 353, 770-781 (2005)
- 63. Kawai, T., H. Sogawa, S. Boskovic, G. Abrahamian, R. N. Smith, S. L. Wee, D. Andrews, O. Nadazdin, I. Koyama, M. Sykes, H. J. Winn, R. B. Colvin, D. H. Sachs & A. B. Cosimi: CD154 blockade for induction of mixed chimerism and prolonged renal allograft survival in nonhuman primates. *Am J Transplant* 4, 1391-1398 (2004)
- 64. Koulmanda, M., R. N. Smith, A. Qipo, G. Weir, H. Auchincloss & T. B. Strom: Prolonged survival of allogeneic islets in cynomolgus monkeys after short-term anti-CD154-based therapy: nonimmunologic graft failure? *Am J Transplant* 6, 687-696 (2006)
- 65. Pierson, R. N., III, A. C. Chang, M. G. Blum, K. S. Blair, M. A. Scott, J. B. Atkinson, B. J. Collins, J. P. Zhang, D. W. Thomas, L. C. Burkly & G. G. Miller: Prolongation of primate cardiac allograft survival by treatment with ANTI-CD40 ligand (CD154) antibody. *Transplantation* 68, 1800-1805 (1999)
- 66. Kawai, T., D. Andrews, R. B. Colvin, D. H. Sachs & A. B. Cosimi: Thromboembolic complications after treatment with monoclonal antibody against CD40 ligand. *Nat Med* 6, 114 (2000)
- 67. Pfeiffer, S., G. L. Iii, A. M. Azimzadeh, J. Atkinson, R. Newman & R. N. Pierson: Monotherapy with anti-CD40 ligand antibody (IDEC 131) for non-human primate allograft heart transplantation. *J Heart Lung Transplant* 20, 250 (2001)
- 68. Chalermskulrat, W., K. P. McKinnon, W. J. Brickey, I. P. Neuringer, R. C. Park, D. G. Sterka, B. R. Long, P. McNeillie, R. J. Noelle, J. P. Ting & R. M. Aris: Combined donor specific transfusion and anti-CD154 therapy achieves airway allograft tolerance. *Thorax* 61, 61-67 (2006)
- 69. Ringers, J., K. G. Haanstra, R. A. Kroczek, K. Kliem, E. M. Kuhn, J. Wubben, M. A. Ossevoort, H. D. Volk & M. Jonker: Blockade of CD40-CD154 at the time of donor-specific blood transfusion does not lead to prolonged kidney allograft survival in nonhuman primates. *Transplantation* 73, 862-866 (2002)
- 70. Kim, E. Y., E. N. Lee, J. Lee, H. J. Park, C. Y. Chang, d. Y. Jung, S. Y. Choi, S. K. Lee, J. W. Joh & S. J. Kim:

- Two-signal blockade with anti-CD45RB and anti-CD154 monoclonal antibodies inhibits graft rejection via CD4-dependent mechanisms in allogeneic skin transplantation. *Exp Mol Med* 38, 284-294 (2006)
- 71. Xu, H., S. P. Montgomery, E. H. Preston, D. K. Tadaki, D. A. Hale, D. M. Harlan & A. D. Kirk: Studies investigating pretransplant donor-specific blood transfusion, rapamycin, and the CD154-specific antibody IDEC-131 in a nonhuman primate model of skin allotransplantation. *J Immunol* 170, 2776-2782 (2003)
- 72. Haanstra, K. G., E. A. Sick, J. Ringers, J. A. Wubben, E. M. Kuhn, L. Boon & M. Jonker: Costimulation blockade followed by a 12-week period of cyclosporine A facilitates prolonged drug-free survival of rhesus monkey kidney allografts. *Transplantation* 79, 1623-1626 (2005)
- 73. Lo, A., R. J. Stratta, R. R. Alloway, M. F. Egidi, M. H. Shokouh-Amiri, H. P. Grewal, L. W. Gaber & A. O. Gaber: Initial clinical experience with interleukin-2 receptor antagonist induction in combination with tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil and steroids in simultaneous kidney-pancreas transplantation. *Transpl Int* 14, 396-404 (2001)
- 74. Lin, M., A. Ming & M. Zhao: Two-dose basiliximab compared with two-dose daclizumab in renal transplantation: a clinical study. *Clin Transplant* 20, 325-329 (2006)
- 75. Vugmeyster, Y., K. Howell, K. McKeever, D. Combs & E. Canova-Davis: Differential *in vivo* effects of rituximab on two B-cell subsets in cynomolgus monkeys. *Int Immunopharmacol* 3, 1477-1481 (2003)
- 76. Chatenoud, L., C. Ferran & J. F. Bach: Clinical applications of anti-T-cell monoclonal antibodies. *Adv Nephrol Necker Hosp* 20, 281-304 (1991)
- 77. Hale, G., D. M. Swirsky, F. G. Hayhoe & H. Waldmann: Effects of monoclonal anti-lymphocyte antibodies *in vivo* in monkeys and humans. *Mol Biol Med* 1, 321-334 (1983)
- 78. Thomas, J. M., E. A. Williams, F. T. Thomas & G. M. Millington: T cell-specific activity in rabbit anti-human thymocyte globulin. Correlation with immunosuppresive activity in nonhuman primates. *Transplantation* 25, 97-102 (1978)
- 79. Strober, S., D. L. Modry, R. T. Hoppe, J. L. Pennock, C. P. Bieber, B. I. Holm, S. W. Jamieson, E. B. Stinson, J. Schroder, H. Suomalainen & .: Induction of specific unresponsiveness to heart allografts in mongrel dogs treated with total lymphoid irradiation and antithymocyte globulin. *J Immunol* 132, 1013-1018 (1984)
- 80. Knechtle, S. J., D. Vargo, J. Fechner, Y. Zhai, J. Wang, M. J. Hanaway, J. Scharff, H. Hu, L. Knapp, D. Watkins & D. M. Neville, Jr.: FN18-CRM9 immunotoxin promotes tolerance in primate renal allografts. *Transplantation* 63, 1-6 (1997)
- 81. Fechner, J. H., Jr., D. J. Vargo, E. K. Geissler, C. Graeb, J. Wang, M. J. Hanaway, D. I. Watkins, M. Piekarczyk, D. M. Neville, Jr. & S. J. Knechtle: Split tolerance induced by immunotoxin in a rhesus kidney allograft model. *Transplantation* 63, 1339-1345 (1997)
- 82. Thomas, J. M., D. E. Eckhoff, J. L. Contreras, F. T. Thomas, D. M. Neville, Jr., A. Lobashevsky, W. J. Hubbard & W. J. Cook: Retraction: Durable donor-specific T and B cell tolerance in rhesus macaques induced with

- peritransplantation anti-CD3 immunotoxin and deoxyspergualin: absence of chronic allograft nephropathy. *Transplantation* 82, 577 (2006)
- 83. Knechtle, S. J.: Treatment with immunotoxin. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 356, 681-689 (2001)
- 84. Morris, P. J., N. K. Russell: Alemtuzumab (Campath-1H): a systematic review in organ transplantation. *Transplantation* 81, 1361-1367 (2006)
- 85. Dehoux, J. P., S. Talpe, N. Dewolf, M. Otsuka, F. Oike, F. Jamar, P. B. de la, D. Latinne, H. Bazin & P. Gianello: Effects on human and nonhuman primate immune response of a new rat anti-CD2 monoclonal antibody. *Transplantation* 69, 2622-2633 (2000)
- 86. Dehoux, J. P., P. B. de la, D. Latinne, H. Bazin & P. Gianello: Effect *in vitro* and *in vivo* of a rat anti-CD2 monoclonal antibody (LO-CD2b) on pig-to-baboon xenogeneic cellular (T and natural killer cells) immune response. *Xenotransplantation* 8, 193-201 (2001)
- 87. Lerut, J., T. Van, V, J. Mathijs, J. Lemaire, S. Talpe, F. Roggen, O. Ciccarelli, M. Zuckermann, P. Goffette, J. Hope, P. Gianello, H. Bazin, A. Cornet, J. Rahier & D. Latinne: Anti-CD2 monoclonal antibody and tacrolimus in adult liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 80, 1186-1193 (2005)
- 88. Kawai, T., A. B. Cosimi, R. B. Colvin, J. Powelson, J. Eason, T. Kozlowski, M. Sykes, R. Monroy, M. Tanaka & D. H. Sachs: Mixed allogeneic chimerism and renal allograft tolerance in cynomolgus monkeys. *Transplantation* 59, 256-262 (1995)
- 89. Kawai, T., D. H. Sachs & A. B. Cosimi: Tolerance to vascularized organ allografts in large-animal models. *Curr Opin Immunol* 11, 516-520 (1999)
- 90. Fudaba, Y., T. R. Spitzer, J. Shaffer, T. Kawai, T. Fehr, F. Delmonico, F. Preffer, N. Tolkoff-Rubin, B. R. Dey, S. L. Saidman, A. Kraus, T. Bonnefoix, S. McAfee, K. Power, K. Kattleman, R. B. Colvin, D. H. Sachs, A. B. Cosimi & M. Sykes: Myeloma responses and tolerance following combined kidney and nonmyeloablative marrow transplantation: *in vivo* and *in vitro* analyses. *Am J Transplant* 6, 2121-2133 (2006)
- 91. Torrealba, J. R., M. Katayama, J. H. Fechner, Jr., E. Jankowska-Gan, S. Kusaka, Q. Xu, J. M. Schultz, T. D. Oberley, H. Hu, M. M. Hamawy, M. Jonker, J. Wubben, G. Doxiadis, R. Bontrop, W. J. Burlingham & S. J. Knechtle: Metastable tolerance to rhesus monkey renal transplants is correlated with allograft TGF-beta 1+CD4+ T regulatory cell infiltrates. *J Immunol* 172, 5753-5764 (2004)
- 92. Wekerle, T., M. Sykes: Mixed chimerism and transplantation tolerance. *Annu Rev Med* 52, 353-370 (2001)
- 93. Gordon, E. J., B. A. Woda, L. D. Shultz, A. A. Rossini, D. L. Greiner & J. P. Mordes: Rat xenograft survival in mice treated with donor-specific transfusion and anti-CD154 antibody is enhanced by elimination of host CD4+cells. *Transplantation* 71, 319-327 (2001)
- 94. Pruitt, S. K., W. M. Baldwin, III, R. N. Barth & F. Sanfilippo: The effect of xenoreactive antibody and B cell depletion on hyperacute rejection of guinea pig-to-rat cardiac xenografts. *Transplantation* 56, 1318-1324 (1993) 95. Leventhal, J. R., A. J. Matas, L. H. Sun, S. Reif, R. M. Bolman, III, A. P. Dalmasso & J. L. Platt: The

- immunopathology of cardiac xenograft rejection in the guinea pig-to-rat model. *Transplantation* 56, 1-8 (1993)
- 96. Yan, Y., E. Verbeken, L. Yu, O. Rutgeerts, J. Goebels, C. Segers, Y. Lin & M. Waer: Effects of a short course of leflunomide on T-independent B-lymphocyte xenoreactivity and on susceptibility of xenografts to acute or chronic rejection. *Transplantation* 79, 135-141 (2005)
- 97. Soares, M. P., Y. Lin, K. Sato, K. M. Stuhlmeier & F. H. Bach: Accommodation. *Immunol Today* 20, 434-437 (1999)
- 98. Pearse, M. J., P. J. Cowan, T. A. Shinkel, C. G. Chen & A. J. d'Apice: Anti-xenograft immune responses in alpha 1,3-galactosyltransferase knock-out mice. *Subcell Biochem* 32, 281-310 (1999)
- 99. Reemtsma, K.: Renal heterotransplantation from nonhuman primates to man. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 162, 412-418 (1969)
- 100. Bailey, L. L., S. L. Nehlsen-Cannarella, W. Concepcion & W. B. Jolley: Baboon-to-human cardiac xenotransplantation in a neonate. *JAMA* 254, 3321-3329 (1985)
- 101. Galili, U., S. B. Shohet, E. Kobrin, C. L. Stults & B. A. Macher: Man, apes, and Old World monkeys differ from other mammals in the expression of alpha-galactosyl epitopes on nucleated cells. *J Biol Chem* 263, 17755-17762 (1988)
- 102. Gianello, P.: Preventing Hyperacute Rejection. *Graft* 4, 18-22 (2001)
- 103. Kobayashi, T., S. Taniguchi, F. A. Neethling, A. G. Rose, W. W. Hancock, Y. Ye, M. Niekrasz, S. Kosanke, L. J. Wright, D. J. White & D. K. Cooper: Delayed xenograft rejection of pig-to-baboon cardiac transplants after cobra venom factor therapy. *Transplantation* 64, 1255-1261 (1997)
- 104. Kroshus, T. J., S. A. Rollins, A. P. Dalmasso, E. A. Elliott, L. A. Matis, S. P. Squinto & R. M. Bolman, III: Complement inhibition with an anti-C5 monoclonal antibody prevents acute cardiac tissue injury in an *ex vivo* model of pig-to-human xenotransplantation. *Transplantation* 60, 1194-1202 (1995)
- 105. Miyagawa, S., R. Shirakura, G. Matsumiya, N. Fukushima, S. Nakata, H. Matsuda, M. Matsumoto, H. Kitamura & T. Seya: Prolonging discordant xenograft survival with anticomplement reagents K76COOH and FUT175. *Transplantation* 55, 709-713 (1993)
- 106. Cozzi, E., D. J. White: The generation of transgenic pigs as potential organ donors for humans. *Nat Med* 1, 964-966 (1995)
- 107. Cozzi, E., F. Bhatti, M. Schmoeckel, G. Chavez, K. G. Smith, A. Zaidi, J. R. Bradley, S. Thiru, M. Goddard, C. Vial, D. Ostlie, J. Wallwork, D. J. White & P. J. Friend: Long-term survival of nonhuman primates receiving life-supporting transgenic porcine kidney xenografts. *Transplantation* 70, 15-21 (2000)
- 108. Houdebine, L. M.: Use of transgenic animals to improve human health and animal production. *Reprod Domest Anim* 40, 269-281 (2005)
- 109. Zaidi, A., M. Schmoeckel, F. Bhatti, P. Waterworth, M. Tolan, E. Cozzi, G. Chavez, G. Langford, S. Thiru, J. Wallwork, D. White & P. Friend: Life-supporting pig-to-primate renal xenotransplantation using genetically modified donors. *Transplantation* 65, 1584-1590 (1998)

- 110. Zaidi, A., F. Bhatti, M. Schmoeckel, E. Cozzi, G. Chavez, J. Wallwork, D. White & P. Friend: Kidneys from HDAF transgenic pigs are physiologically compatible with primates. *Transplant Proc* 30, 2465-2466 (1998)
- 111. Zhou, C. Y., E. McInnes, L. Copeman, G. Langford, N. Parsons, R. Lancaster, A. Richards, C. Carrington & S. Thompson: Transgenic pigs expressing human CD59, in combination with human membrane cofactor protein and human decay-accelerating factor. *Xenotransplantation* 12, 142-148 (2005)
- 112. Kuwaki, K., C. Knosalla, F. J. Dor, B. Gollackner, Y. L. Tseng, S. Houser, N. Mueller, D. Prabharasuth, A. Alt, K. Moran, J. Cheng, A. Behdad, D. H. Sachs, J. A. Fishman, H. J. Schuurman, M. Awwad & D. K. Cooper: Suppression of natural and elicited antibodies in pig-to-baboon heart transplantation using a human anti-human CD154 mAb-based regimen. *Am J Transplant* 4, 363-372 (2004)
- 113. McGregor, C. G., S. S. Teotia, G. W. Byrne, M. G. Michaels, J. M. Risdahl, J. M. Schirmer, H. D. Tazelaar, R. C. Walker & J. S. Logan: Cardiac xenotransplantation: progress toward the clinic. *Transplantation* 78, 1569-1575 (2004)
- 114. Schmoeckel, M., F. N. Bhatti, A. Zaidi, E. Cozzi, P. D. Waterworth, M. J. Tolan, G. Pino-Chavez, M. Goddard, R. G. Warner, G. A. Langford, J. J. Dunning, J. Wallwork & D. J. White: Orthotopic heart transplantation in a transgenic pig-to-primate model. *Transplantation* 65, 1570-1577 (1998)
- 115. Tai, H. C., M. Ézzelarab, H. Hara, D. Ayares & D. K. Cooper: Progress in xenotransplantation following the introduction of gene-knockout technology. *Transpl Int* 20, 107-117 (2007)
- 116. Lai, L., R. S. Prather: Creating genetically modified pigs by using nuclear transfer. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 1, 82 (2003)
- 117. Kuwaki, K., Y. L. Tseng, F. J. Dor, A. Shimizu, S. L. Houser, T. M. Sanderson, C. J. Lancos, D. D. Prabharasuth, J. Cheng, K. Moran, Y. Hisashi, N. Mueller, K. Yamada, J. L. Greenstein, R. J. Hawley, C. Patience, M. Awwad, J. A. Fishman, S. C. Robson, H. J. Schuurman, D. H. Sachs & D. K. Cooper: Heart transplantation in baboons using alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs as donors: initial experience. *Nat Med* 11, 29-31 (2005)
- 118. Yamada, K., K. Yazawa, A. Shimizu, T. Iwanaga, Y. Hisashi, M. Nuhn, P. O'Malley, S. Nobori, P. A. Vagefi, C. Patience, J. Fishman, D. K. Cooper, R. J. Hawley, J. Greenstein, H. J. Schuurman, M. Awwad, M. Sykes & D. H. Sachs: Marked prolongation of porcine renal xenograft survival in baboons through the use of alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout donors and the cotransplantation of vascularized thymic tissue. *Nat Med* 11, 32-34 (2005)
- 119. Cozzi, E., S. Masroor, B. Soin, C. Vial & D. J. White: Progress in xenotransplantation. *Clin Nephrol* 53, suppl-8 (2000)
- 120. Alexandre, G. P. J., P. Gianello, D. Latinne, M. Carlier, A. Dewaele, L. Van Obbergh, M. Moriau, E. Marbaix, J. L. Lambotte, L. Lambotte & J. P. Squifflet: Plasmapheresis and splenectomy in experimental renal xenotransplantation. *Xenograft* 25, 259-266 (1989)
- 121. Alexandre, G. P. J., D. Latinne, P. Gianello & J. P. Squifflet: Preformed cytotoxic antibodies and ABO-incompatible grafts. *Clin Transplant* 5, 583-594 (1991)

- 122. Ramirez, P., R. Chavez, M. Majado, V. Munitiz, A. Munoz, Q. Hernandez, C. G. Palenciano, G. Pino-Chavez, M. Loba, A. Minguela, J. Yelamos, M. R. Gago, A. S. Vizcaino, H. Asensi, M. G. Cayuela, B. Segura, F. Marin, A. Rubio, T. Fuente, R. Robles, F. S. Bueno, T. Sansano, F. Acosta, J. M. Rodriguez, F. Navarro, J. Cabezuelo, E. Cozzi, D. J. White, R. Y. Calne & P. Parrilla: Life-supporting human complement regulator decay accelerating factor transgenic pig liver xenograft maintains the metabolic function and coagulation in the nonhuman primate for up to 8 days. *Transplantation* 70, 989-998 (2000)
- 123. Holsapple, M. P., L. J. West & K. S. Landreth: Species comparison of anatomical and functional immune system development. *Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol* 68, 321-334 (2003)
- 124. Ahn, C., J. Y. Kim, B. C. Lee, S. K. Kang, J. R. Lee & W. S. Hwang: The past, present, and future of xenotransplantation. *Yonsei Med J* 45, 1017-1024 (2004) 125. Chen, D., M. Weber, J. H. McVey, G. Kemball-Cook, E. G. Tuddenham, R. I. Lechler & A. Dorling: Complete inhibition of acute humoral rejection using regulated expression of membrane-tethered anticoagulants on xenograft endothelium. *Am J Transplant* 4, 1958-1963 (2004)
- 126. Ghanekar, A., M. Mendicino, H. Liu, W. He, M. Liu, R. Zhong, M. J. Phillips, G. A. Levy & D. R. Grant: Endothelial induction of fgl2 contributes to thrombosis during acute vascular xenograft rejection. *J Immunol* 172, 5693-5701 (2004)
- 127. Hammer, C., E. Thein: Physiological aspects of xenotransplantation, 2001. *Xenotransplantation* 9, 303-305 (2002)
- 128. Patience, C., W. M. Switzer, Y. Takeuchi, D. J. Griffiths, M. E. Goward, W. Heneine, J. P. Stoye & R. A. Weiss: Multiple groups of novel retroviral genomes in pigs and related species. *J Virol* 75, 2771-2775 (2001)
- 129. Paradis, K., G. Langford, Z. Long, W. Heneine, P. Sandstrom, W. M. Switzer, L. E. Chapman, C. Lockey, D. Onions & E. Otto: Search for cross-species transmission of porcine endogenous retrovirus in patients treated with living pig tissue. The XEN 111 Study Group. *Science* 285, 1236-1241 (1999)
- 130. Oldmixon, B. A., J. C. Wood, T. A. Ericsson, C. A. Wilson, M. E. White-Scharf, G. Andersson, J. L. Greenstein, H. J. Schuurman & C. Patience: Porcine endogenous retrovirus transmission characteristics of an inbred herd of miniature swine. *J Virol* 76, 3045-3048 (2002)
- 131. Cardona, K., G. S. Korbutt, Z. Milas, J. Lyon, J. Cano, W. Jiang, H. Bello-Laborn, B. Hacquoil, E. Strobert, S. Gangappa, C. J. Weber, T. C. Pearson, R. V. Rajotte & C. P. Larsen: Long-term survival of neonatal porcine islets in nonhuman primates by targeting costimulation pathways. *Nat Med* 12, 304-306 (2006)
- 132. Hering, B. J., M. Wijkstrom, M. L. Graham, M. Hardstedt, T. C. Aasheim, T. Jie, J. D. Ansite, M. Nakano, J. Cheng, W. Li, K. Moran, U. Christians, C. Finnegan, C. D. Mills, D. E. Sutherland, P. Bansal-Pakala, M. P. Murtaugh, N. Kirchhof & H. J. Schuurman: Prolonged diabetes reversal after intraportal xenotransplantation of

- wild-type porcine islets in immunosuppressed nonhuman primates. *Nat Med* 12, 301-303 (2006)
- 133. Dufrane, D., R. M. Goebbels, A. Saliez, Y. Guiot & P. Gianello: Six-month survival of microencapsulated pig islets and alginate biocompatibility in primates: proof of concept. *Transplantation* 81, 1345-1353 (2006)
- 134. Burra, P., D. Samuel, J. Wendon, A. Pietrangelo & S. Gupta: Strategies for liver support: from stem cells to xenotransplantation. *J Hepatol* 41, 1050-1059 (2004)
- 135. Gunsalus, J. R., D. A. Brady, S. M. Coulter, B. M. Gray & A. S. Edge: Reduction of serum cholesterol in Watanabe rabbits by xenogeneic hepatocellular transplantation. *Nat Med* 3, 48-53 (1997)
- 136. Nagata, H., M. Ito, J. Cai, A. S. Edge, J. L. Platt & I. J. Fox: Treatment of cirrhosis and liver failure in rats by hepatocyte xenotransplantation. *Gastroenterology* 124, 422-431 (2003)
- 137. Dandri, M., M. R. Burda, A. Gocht, E. Torok, J. M. Pollok, C. E. Rogler, H. Will & J. Petersen: Woodchuck hepatocytes remain permissive for hepadnavirus infection and mouse liver repopulation after cryopreservation. *Hepatology* 34, 824-833 (2001)
- 138. Nagata, H., R. Nishitai, C. Shirota, J. L. Zhang, C. A. Koch, J. Cai, M. Awwad, H. J. Schuurman, U. Christians, M. Abe, J. Baranowska-Kortylewicz, J. L. Platt & I. J. Fox: Prolonged survival of porcine hepatocytes in cynomolgus monkeys. *Gastroenterology* 132, 321-329 (2007)
- 139. Rozga, J.: Liver support technology--an update. *Xenotransplantation* 13, 380-389 (2006)
- 140. Patzer, J. F., G. V. Mazariegos & R. Lopez: Preclinical evaluation of the Excorp Medical, Inc, Bioartificial Liver Support System. *J Am Coll Surg* 195, 299-310 (2002)
- 141. Brevig, T., J. Holgersson & H. Widner: Xenotransplantation for CNS repair: immunological barriers and strategies to overcome them. *Trends Neurosci* 23, 337-344 (2000)
- 142. Wennberg, L., K. A. Czech, L. C. Larsson, B. Mirza, W. Bennet, Z. Song & H. Widner: Effects of immunosuppressive treatment on host responses against intracerebral porcine neural tissue xenografts in rats. *Transplantation* 71, 1797-1806 (2001)
- 143. Cicchetti, F., W. Fodor, T. W. Deacon, C. van Horne, S. Rollins, W. Burton, L. C. Costantini & O. Isacson: Immune parameters relevant to neural xenograft survival in the primate brain. *Xenotransplantation* 10, 41-49 (2003)
- **Key Words:** Animal model, Xenotransplantation, Allotransplantation, Tolerance cellular transplantation., Review
- **Send correspondence to:** Dr Pierre Gianello, 55 Avenue hippocrate, CHEX/5570, 1200 Brussels, Belgium, Tel: 3227645586, Fax: 3227645589, Email: gianello@chex.ucl.ac.be

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm